
 
 

 
 

STATE OF ILLINOIS 

ILLINOIS COMMERCE COMMISSION 

ILLINOIS COMMERCE COMMISSION, On 
Its Own Motion 

vs. 

AMEREN ILLINOIS COMPANY d/b/a 
AMEREN ILLINOIS 

Citation for alleged violation of Federal rules 
incorporated by the Illinois Commerce 
Commission regarding general requirements.  
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Docket No. 13-0554 
 

AGREED DRAFT ORDER 

 

I. PROCEDURAL HISTORY  

 On October 2, 2013, the Illinois Commerce Commission (“Commission”) entered an 

Order commencing Docket No. 13-0554 under Section 7 of the Illinois Gas Pipeline Safety Act 

(the “Pipeline Safety Act”), 220 ILCS 20/7, to determine whether Ameren Illinois Company 

(“Ameren Illinois”) had failed to comply with the Ameren Illinois Leak Classification Guidelines 

in its Operation and Maintenance Plan, in violation of 49 CFR § 192.605(a), and whether civil 

penalties should be imposed. 

 The alleged violations are detailed in a Staff Report dated September 5, 2013 (“Staff 

Report”) in the same form as filed on the Commission’s e-docket system on October 2, 2013.  

The alleged violations relate to two Staff separate audits involving Ameren Illinois' Alton 

operating center.  The first audit occurred on April 18, 2013, where Staff reviewed compliance 

records associated with a reported gas leak in the Village of Grafton.  The second audit was 

conducted on May 14-17, 2013, and included a review of compliance records and a field 



 
 

 
 

inspection of the operating center's natural gas distribution system.  Staff states that the incidents 

of improper leak classification described in the Staff Report would, if proven, violate Ameren 

Illinois' guidelines for leak classification in its Operation and Maintenance Plan. 

Appearances in the proceeding were entered by respective counsel on behalf of Ameren 

Illinois and the Staff. No other appearances were entered and no intervening petitions were filed.  

No hearings were held in this matter.  

 On January 28, 2014, Ameren Illinois and Staff filed a Joint Motion for Approval of 

Stipulation and Entry of an Agreed Draft Order (“Joint Motion”) setting forth the terms of a 

Stipulation by which they request the Commission's approval, and a form of an Agreed Draft 

Order also for the Commission's consideration.   

Staff played an integral role in developing the terms of the Stipulation attached to the 

Joint Motion.  Staff recommends that the Commission consider the Stipulation and that the 

Commission enter a Final Order substantially in the form of the Agreed Draft Order proposed by 

Ameren Illinois and Staff.  Staff’s recommendation is further attested by means of a Verified 

Statement from Mr. Burk filed contemporaneously with the Joint Motion.   

II. APPLICABLE LEGAL STANDARDS 

Under Section 3 of the Pipeline Safety Act, the Commission is required to “adopt rules 

establishing minimum safety standards for the transportation of gas and for pipeline facilities.” 

Such rules “shall be at least as inclusive, as stringent, and compatible with, the minimum safety 

standards adopted by the Secretary of Transportation under the Federal Act.” 

The United States Department of Transportation has promulgated rules, which the 

Commission has adopted by reference (83 Ill. Adm. Code Part 590).  The rules read in pertinent 

part: 

49 CFR § 192.605 Procedural manual for operations, maintenance, and 



 
 

 
 

emergencies. (a) General. Each operator shall prepare and follow for each 
pipeline, a manual of written procedures for conducting operations and 
maintenance activities and for emergency response. For transmission lines, the 
manual must also include procedures for handling abnormal operations. This 
manual must be reviewed and updated by the operator at intervals not exceeding 
15 months, but at least once each calendar year. This manual must be prepared 
before operations of a pipeline system commence. Appropriate parts of the 
manual must be kept at locations where operations and maintenance activities are 
conducted. 

 
Section 7(b) of the Pipeline Safety Act describes the criteria that the Commission 

must consider in determining whether to assess a civil penalty for a violation of the 

Pipeline Safety Act.  This section, in relevant part, states: “the Commission shall consider 

the appropriateness of the penalty to the size of the business of the person charged, the 

gravity of the violation, and the good faith of the person charged in attempting to achieve 

compliance, after notification of a violation.”  220 ILCS 20/7(b) 

III. SETTLEMENT TERMS 

As disclosed by the Joint Motion, the Parties engaged in negotiations to reach a 

settlement of this proceeding without regard to liability.  As a result of these negotiations, 

Ameren Illinois and Staff reached terms of a settlement in the form of the Stipulation. 

A copy of the Stipulation is attached as Exhibit 1 to this Order.  Pursuant to the 

Stipulation, the terms of the settlement for which Ameren Illinois and Staff request approval are 

as follows: 

a. Ameren Illinois will pay a penalty under Section 7 of the Gas Pipeline Safety Act, 

of Thirty-Five Thousand ($35,000.00) dollars within thirty (30) days after a 

Commission’s Final Order approving the Stipulation.  This amount represents the 

penalty for the violations outlined in the Order initiating the docket and as 

reflected in the Staff Report; 



 
 

 
 

b. To strengthen the training and qualification of employees performing leak 

management activities, Ameren Illinois will change the requalification interval for 

leak management covered tasks.  This interval will transition from the current 

three year interval to an annual interval, beginning in 2014; 

c. Ameren Illinois will hire one additional full time employee to support the 

additional operator qualification evaluations of gas field personnel performing 

leak management covered tasks, within 120 days of Commission approval of the 

Stipulation; should the hiring be delayed for any reason, Ameren Illinois will 

notify Staff; 

d. Ameren Illinois will implement annual refresher training to all necessary gas 

employees on the Operations and Maintenance Plan leak management procedures.  

This classroom style training will be documented through Ameren Illinois’ 

“Insight” learning management system; 

e. Ameren Illinois will continue to perform increased Quality Assurance reviews for 

“Leak Case Field Reports” in the Alton operating center through June 30, 2014;  

f. Ameren Illinois will revise the Operations and Maintenance Plan procedures in 

the instance where multiple leak calls are received from the customer, to be 

completed by January 31, 2014.  The revision to the Operations and Maintenance 

Plan will state that if Ameren Illinois is contacted by a customer three times with 

regard to a specific Class 3 (non-hazardous) leak, Ameren Illinois will repair the 

leak within a reasonable time period.  

IV.       COMMISSION’S CONCLUSION 



 
 

 
 

The Commission finds that the terms of the Stipulation are reasonable and provide for an 

appropriate resolution of this docket.  The Commission has the legal authority to adopt a 

settlement proposal that, as in the present case, has the unanimous support of all the Parties and 

is otherwise appropriate.  See Business and Professional People for the Public Interest v. Illinois 

Commerce Commission, 136 Ill. 2d 192, 216-217 (1989).  Accordingly, the Commission 

approves and adopts the terms of the Stipulation as a final settlement of this docket. 

As noted, Section 7(b) of the Gas Pipeline Safety Act provides that: 

Any civil penalty [under this Act] may be compromised by the Commission. In 
determining the amount of the penalty, or the amount agreed upon in compromise, 
the Commission shall consider the appropriateness of the penalty to the size of the 
business of the person charged, the gravity of the violation, and the good faith of 
the person charged in attempting to achieve compliance, after notification of a 
violation. 
 
The Commission finds that the payment in lieu of a Commission-imposed penalty agreed 

to in the Stipulation is appropriate to Ameren Illinois' size, and the gravity of the violations 

alleged. While Ameren Illinois is a comparatively large entity, and the violations alleged are 

grave, the amount proposed in compromise - Thirty-Five Thousand ($35,000.00) dollars - is a 

significant sum. Likewise, Ameren Illinois has demonstrated good faith in agreeing as part of the 

Stipulation to hire a full time employee to perform the functions described above, a concession 

that will assist in compliance matters. Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Stipulation 

offered by Ameren Illinois and Staff in this matter should be adopted.  

V. FINDINGS AND ORDERING PARAGRAPHS 

The Commission, having considered the entire record herein and being fully advised in 

the premises, is of the opinion and finds that: 

A. Ameren Illinois Company is engaged in the business of furnishing gas service to the public in 
the State of Illinois and is subject to the Illinois Pipeline Safety Act; 



 
 

 
 

B. the Commission has jurisdiction over Ameren Illinois Company and the subject matter 
herein; 

C. the findings of fact and conclusions of law set forth in the prefatory portion of this Order are 
supported by the record herein and are hereby adopted as findings of fact and conclusions of 
law; 

D. without regard to liability, Ameren Illinois Company agrees to undertake certain actions as 
described above and also pay Thirty-Five Thousand  ($35,000) dollars in lieu of the 
assessment of a penalty after notice and hearing; 

E. without regard to liability, the Staff has agreed to accept the settlement terms as resolution to 
the alleged violations; 

F. the terms of the Stipulation agreed to by Ameren Illinois Company and Staff  is consistent 
with Section 7(b) of the Gas Pipeline Safety Act, and the Stipulation should be adopted as 
full and complete resolution to this docket and the allegations contained in the Staff Report. 

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED by the Illinois Commerce Commission that the attached 
Stipulation is hereby adopted as full and complete resolution to this docket and the allegations 
contained in the Staff Report filed on e-Docket on September 5, 2013, and that Ameren Illinois 
shall comply with the terms thereof.  
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Ameren Illinois Company shall pay Thirty-Five 
Thousand ($35,000) dollars and shall comply with the terms of the attached Stipulation. 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that if further additional and accelerated actions are 

necessary, Staff shall file a motion with the Commission identifying its concerns and asking the 
Commission to reopen this docket to determine what additional actions are necessary and to 
order their implementation. 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, subject to the provisions of Section 10-113 of the 

Public Utilities Act and 83 Ill. Adm. Code 200.880, this Order is final; it is not subject to the 
Administrative Review Law. 

 By Order of the Commission this _______ day of _______, 2014. 

        (SIGNED) Douglas P. Scott 

 

         Chairman 
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